THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Mar 27 2024

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Post Conviction Relief

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No.: 2023-001432

Tyrone D. Ellison,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

AMENDED
PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Tricia A. Blanchette
S.C. Bar No. 74904
PO Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
(803) 908-3266
Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the lower court erred by failing to properly address the matters raised in the Rule 59, SCRCF, Motion; therefore, a remand is necessary to ensure that specific findings of fact and conclusions of law were entered on each issue raised and that the record before the court and the testimony of each witness was properly addressed.

- II. Whether the lower court erred by not finding that counsel failed to properly prepare prior to trial and advise Petitioner regarding the strength of the State's evidence and the available defenses, which resulted in counsel's failure to effectively negotiate a guilty plea, a guilty plea not being entered and ineffective assistance at trial. The following that arose prior to and during trial demonstrate counsel's ineffective assistance: a) utilization of a defense strategy that had been fully discussed on recorded phone calls provided to the defense in discovery; b) utilization of Petitioner's mother as a defense witness to support said defense, with knowledge that she was subject to questioning regarding her audio interviews and recorded phone calls; c) utilization of an expert that bolstered the State's case and failed to offer an advantageous opinion; d) utilization of defense witnesses regarding employment and/or alibi, when it was known that the State could refute said witnesses; and e) failure to consider or address the matter of double jeopardy.
 - A. Whether the lower court erred since trial counsel failed to properly prepare prior to trial and advise Petitioner regarding the strength of the State's evidence and the available defenses, which resulted in counsel failing to effectively negotiate a guilty plea and a guilty plea not being entered.

 - B. Whether the lower court must be reversed since counsel failed to properly prepare prior to trial and advise Petitioner regarding the strength of the State's evidence and the available defenses. The following that arose prior to and during trial demonstrate counsel's ineffective assistance: a) utilization of a defense strategy that had been fully discussed on recorded phone calls provided to the defense in discovery; b) utilization of Petitioner's mother as a defense witness to support said defense, with knowledge that she was subject to questioning regarding her audio interviews and recorded phone calls; c) utilization of an expert that bolstered the State's case and failed to offer an advantageous opinion; d) utilization of defense witnesses regarding employment and/or alibi, when it was known that the State could refute said witnesses; and e) failure to consider or address the matter of double jeopardy.

- III. Whether the lower court erred for failing to find that relief is required under *Cronic* due to a complete breakdown in the adversarial process.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law. *Smalls v. State*, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. *Webb v. State*, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court "will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Dorchester County Clerk of Court. Petitioner was indicted at the December 2013 term of the Dorchester County Grand Jury for entering a bank, depository, or building and loan association with intent to steal (2013-GS-18-1271). Petitioner was also indicted at the April 2014 term of the Dorchester County Grand Jury for armed robbery (2014-GS-18-0325). The indictments stemmed from a robbery of a Suntrust bank on April 1, 2013.

On August 4, 2014, Petitioner appeared in front of the Honorable R. Knox McMahon at the Dorchester County Courthouse for a trial on Indictment No. 2013-GS-18-1271 and 2014-GS-18-0325. Petitioner was represented by Michael Tommy Bolus, Esquire. Assistant Solicitors Don Sorenson, Esquire, and Phil Giese, Esquire, represented the State. After hearing a pre-trial matter regarding DNA, the trial was continued to allow for DNA testing by Petitioner's expert.

On October 20-24, 2016, Petitioner proceeded to trial in front of the Honorable D. Craig Brown and a jury. Petitioner was present and represented by James K. Falk, Esquire. Assistant Solicitors Don Sorenson and Phil Giese represented the State. Petitioner was found guilty as

indicted, and he was sentenced to life imprisonment for Indictment No. 2014-GS-18-0325 and a concurrent thirty years for Indictment No. 2013-GS-18-1271.

A timely notice of appeal was filed and David Alexander, Esquire, perfected the appeal. On January 11, 2017, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed. *State v. Ellison*, 2017-UP-014 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 11, 2017). The Remittitur was issued on February 7, 2017.

On January 11, 2018, an Application for Post Conviction Relief was filed. The State submitted a Return on April 23, 2018. On May 8, 2018, Petitioner filed a Motion for Consolidation and Discovery, which also addressed Petitioner's Post Conviction Relief Application stemming from the entry of a guilty plea (Docket No. 2016-CP-18-0017).¹ A motion hearing was conducted at the Dorchester County Courthouse on July 12, 2018 in front of the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell. On July 23, 2018, an Order for Consolidation and Discovery was filed on July 26, 2018.

On July 26, 2021, Petitioner filed an Amendment, which alleged the following:

In general, Applicant would allege that his rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as pursuant to Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, were violated prior to and during counsel's representation that culminated in trial, conviction and subsequent guilty plea. Applicant would further amend his Application for Post Conviction Relief to contain the following specific allegations of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate:

1. Failure to properly prepare prior to trial and advise Applicant regarding strength of the State's evidence and the available defenses, which resulted in counsel's failure to effectively negotiate a guilty plea and the following matters that arose prior to and during trial:
 - a. Utilization of a defense strategy that had been fully discussed on recorded phone calls provided to the defense in discovery.

¹ On January 7, 2016, Petitioner filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief in Dorchester County (Docket No. 2016-CP-18-0017) stemming from the entry of a negotiated guilty plea in front of the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson and representation provided by James K. Falk, Esquire. As a result of the consolidated evidentiary hearing, the lower court had a copy of the records from the guilty plea and resulting PCR Application and took such into consideration.

- b. Utilization of Applicant's mother as a defense witness to support said defense, with knowledge that she was subject to questioning regarding her audio interview with law enforcement whereby she identified Applicant, in part, and her recorded phone calls regarding the defense offered.
 - c. Utilization of an expert that bolstered the State's case and failed to offer an opinion advantageous to Applicant.
 - d. Utilization of defense witnesses regarding Applicant's employment and/or alibi, when it was known that the State could refute said witnesses.
 - e. Failure to address with Applicant, make an argument and/or motion regarding double jeopardy.
2. Failure to address the following matters at trial:
- a. The Court's prohibited and burden shifting statements to "search for the truth in an effort to make sure that justice is done between the parties" and that both the State and Defendant get a fair and impartial trial. Transcript p. 90, lns. 21-23, p. 601, ln. 25 – p. 602, ln. 5.
 - b. The Court's failure to question the jurors individually on the matters involving witness intimidation. Transcript pp. 534-536.
3. Ineffective assistance of Appellate Counsel for failure to raise the motion made regarding the suppression of the gloves.

Applicant submits that these allegations as addressed at a consolidated evidentiary hearing will show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that counsel's deficiency prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117–18, *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Additionally, Applicant submits that these allegations as addressed at a consolidated evidentiary hearing will show a complete breakdown in the adversarial process and a systematic failure whereby prejudice must be presumed. *See United States v. Chronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039 (1984).

On May 20, 2022, an evidentiary hearing was conducted at the Orangeburg County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Robert J. Bonds. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Samantha J. Weidauer, Assistant Attorney General. At the beginning of the hearing the matter of consolidation was addressed, and the court proceeded with a consolidated hearing. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court

requested that the parties submit a proposed Order. An Order of Dismissal was issued on October 3, 2022 and filed on October 6, 2022. Petitioner filed a Rule 59, SCRCF, Motion on October 28, 2022. After conducting a hearing on December 8, 2022, the lower court issued an Order Denying Applicant's Rule 59(a) & (e) Motion on December 8, 2022, which was filed on August 4, 2023. Thereafter, this Petition timely follows.

ARGUMENT

I. Summary of the Relevant Evidentiary Hearing Testimony

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified that he originally retained Tommy Bolus, Esquire, to represent him and Attorney Bolus obtained a DNA expert (Dr. Bennett). App. pp. 869-870. Petitioner identified and admitted a Motion for Bond Reduction that was filed by Attorney Bolus. App. pp. 870-871. When asked about the Motion and exhibits attached, he responded that he did not discuss the contents of the filing with Attorney Bolus, but he understood that counsel was trying to get him a "decent" bond.² App. 871 p. 33, Ins. 14-25.

Petitioner identified and counsel admitted an exhibit, which contained email communications from Attorney Sorenson formerly of the Solicitor's Office regarding a plea offer. App. pp. 873-874 1009. He confirmed that the plea offer was dated May 15, 2014, and the terms were a sentence of 25 to 30 years on two counts of entering a back with intent to steal, failure to stop for blue light, and 2 counts of leaving a scene with great bodily injury and dismissal of the 2 counts of armed robbery. App. pp. 873-874. He also acknowledged that the email stated that Attorney Sorenson indicated that he would agree to a negotiated term of 27 years. App. p. 874. He testified that the plea offer was communicated to him, but he informed Attorney Bolus that he did not want to accept it until he saw Dr. Bennett's results. App. p. 874.

² Attorney Bolus was not present to testify at the evidentiary hearing since he died on May 30, 2021.

Regarding the hearing on August 4, 2014, Petitioner testified that he thought he was going to trial, but a motion hearing was conducted regarding Dr. Bennett. App. pp. 874-875. After that hearing, he understood that Dr. Bennett was going to do “further testing to see whether DNA was going to be admitted into evidence or not.” App. p. 875, lns. 5-8. He testified that he fired Attorney Bolus that same day and retained Attorney Falk. App. p. 875.

Prior to trial, he recalled meeting with Attorney Falk one time at the detention center. App. p. 877. He did not recall discussing the information contained in the Motion for Bond Reduction or reviewing the discovery, specifically, the contents of the 2 CDs admitted at the evidentiary hearing. App. pp. 878-880, Exhibits 4, 5. He testified that he had reviewed the contents of both CDs with PCR counsel. App. p. 881.

As to the contents of the CDs, he testified that he was not advised by counsel about the identification made by his mother during her interview by Detective Repman. App. p. 881. As to the calls with inmate Shawn Keitt, he testified that counsel did not review the calls with him or advise him regarding the contents whereby his mother discussed major components of the defense. App. pp. 881-882. He testified that counsel did not advise him about either recording before calling his mother as a defense witness. App. pp. 882-883. Petitioner also testified that he was not aware that she would be subjected to cross-examination on the contents of the recorded interviews and phone calls. App. 884-885.³ He testified that if Attorney Falk had just talked with him about the contents of the 2 CDs, he would have been talking to him about pursuing a plea deal. App. p. 885. He explained that he would have wanted to discuss a plea deal because it “would be in my best interest.” App. p. 885, lns. 21-22. He testified that he would not have

³ On cross-examination, he testified that he had discussions with his mother about whether she had identified him to law enforcement, but he was not aware of what she said to law enforcement until the State asked her about it on cross-examination. App. pp. 918-920.

wanted his mother utilized as a witness nor would he have proceeded to trial if he was properly advised. App. pp. 885-886.

Turning to Dr. Bennett, he thought that Dr. Bennett “was basically going to go against what SLED was saying because he didn’t get the same results.” App. p. 886, Ins. 4-10. He understood that Dr. Bennett was going to be a positive witness, and he would create a “battle” between the DNA experts and/or cause the DNA to not be used. App. pp. 886-887. When asked about the pre-trial hearing regarding Dr. Bennett, he did not recall counsel advising him that there would be a pre-trial hearing or discussing any of the issues addressed at the hearing with him before trial. App. pp. 887-888. As to Dr. Bennett’s testimony, he again testified that he thought his testimony was going to be favorable, and he did not understand that Dr. Bennett would testify that SLED did a thorough job, had extracted all the DNA, and he did not have an issue with their work. App. pp. 889-891.⁴ When asked about the State’s summary of Dr. Bennett’s testimony and the court’s ruling, Petitioner testified that if counsel would have informed him properly, it would have changed his decision about going to trial. He explained: “Yes. If he wasn’t going to be in my defense, then I knew the DNA would kill me in a trial, so it would be no point of going to trial without a defense with the DNA.” App. p. 892, Ins. 16-18. When asked about Dr. Bennett’s trial testimony, he testified that counsel did not discuss with him after the pre-trial hearing whether or not Dr. Bennett should be called during trial. He testified that he would not have wanted Dr. Bennett called since he corroborated and bolstered the State’s expert. App. p. 893.

⁴ On cross-examination, Petitioner was asked why he believed Dr. Bennett’s testing would be helpful. He responded, in part: “[T]he one time he got to test them they came back inconclusive. So, from my understanding, it’s a different result. It’s not saying that the DNA was mine. And that’s where the August 4th trial came from, the continuance, was because he had a different result and, from my understanding, it was in my favor.” App. p. 923, Ins. 14-22.

When asked about the remaining defense witnesses, he testified that counsel did not discuss the witnesses with him and his mother was responsible for getting the witnesses to trial, which the State brought out during the trial. App. p. 895. As for Ms. Green, he testified that counsel did not advise him that the corporate records conflicted with her testimony or that the State could get into the matter of latex gloves with her. App. p. 896. Regarding Ms. Payne, he testified that he was not advised about her criminal history, which the State asked her about at trial. App. p. 896. He also testified that he was unaware prior to trial that the State had records and a witness to refute the testimony that he was at work. App. p. 897. When asked about counsel's closing argument regarding his alibi, he testified that counsel's position was not conveyed to him prior to trial and if counsel had properly advised him about the issues with his alibi and witnesses, he would not have wanted the witnesses called, alibi presented nor proceeded to trial. App. pp. 897-898. He agreed that he was relying upon counsel to advise him about the strength/weakness of the case and to be prepared for trial. App. p. 898. He testified that if he had been properly advised, he would have wanted to pursue a guilty plea. App. p. 898.

Turning to the matter of double jeopardy, Petitioner questioned why counsel did not argue that he was being punished twice for the same crime and counsel should have argued that the State needed to "select one or another instead of trying me for both of them." App. p. 899, lns. 3-22. He testified that counsel never discussed the issue of double jeopardy with him or whether it was proper to try him for both charges. App. p. 900.

After being called to the stand, James Falk, Esquire, testified that he had been practicing law since 1984 and the primary focus of his practice was criminal cases since 1996. App. pp. 942-943. He recalled being retained by Petitioner's mother about five weeks before trial with an understanding that the case was set for trial. App. pp. 943, 961-962. He recalled obtaining the

file from Mr. Bolus and reviewing it, but he clarified: “I did not review all of the jail tapes.” App. p. 944, Ins. 3-13. He admitted that he did not review the call between Petitioner’s mother and inmate Keitt. App. p. 944. He recalled reviewing Petitioner’s mother’s interview with law enforcement and believed that he discussed it with her and Petitioner. App. p. 945. He explained that he would have still called Petitioner’s mother to the stand if he reviewed the phone call, but he would not have addressed the matter of a financial incentive. App. pp. 945-946.

On cross-examination, he testified that the phone call was “not great” for the case. App. p. 967, Ins. 22-23. He also testified that that it was a “good identity case.” App. p. 963, Ins. 8-14. When asked about the cross-examination of Petitioner’s mother on her identification of Petitioner during her interview, he recalled how he tried to “explain why she may have been flustered and made a bad identification.” App. p. 968, Ins. 4-13.

Also, during cross-examination, he referenced the stack of CDs on Petitioner’s table and testified that he did not have a “stack of videos that high.” App. p. 964, Ins. 13-24. On redirect, the following testimony was elicited:

Question: Now, I was just confused by your cross-examination. Were you stating that you had no CDs? You didn’t have all the CDs? What?

Answer: Well, I had some of the CDs. I mean, obviously, I had the CDs because showing the security cam videos for the bank. And I had other CDs. And I know there was a lengthy CD that related to the second trial where I think his mother almost talked him into confessing to the second one. I was going to have some problems if we ever got there. So, I mean, I just don’t remember the stack of jail CDs, jail call CDs.

Question: So you don’t recall ever even having jail call CDs?

Answer: That’s correct.

Question: Okay. When those came out at the trial, and especially when you were subsequently representing him on the second case. did you raise that concern to the Court?

Answer: No.

Question: Did you raise that concern to the Solicitor's office?

Answer: No.

Question: Is that something that you should have raised in the course of your representation?

Answer: I don't know. I was embarrassed that that came up, you know. There was more – and I don't know if they should have been supplied. It was more to the posture that I was embarrassed by the jail call.

Question: So you were embarrassed when that came out at trial?

Answer: Yes.

Question: And what was the source of that embarrassment?

Answer: That the case blew up right then.

Question: And it was something you were completely unaware of?

Answer: That's correct.

Question: And it was something you had not advised Mr. Ellison about?

Answer: No. And I was also frustrated, because I was misled by his mother. So I should be – maybe embarrassed isn't the right term, but concerned.

App. p. 985, ln. 14 – p. 986, ln. 22.

When asked if an investigator was used prior to trial, he responded: "No. I just looked at the materials that Tommy Bolus had pulled together." App. p. 946, lns. 9-14.⁵ He testified that he discussed a defensive strategy with Petitioner that he described as follows: "We were going to talk about the alibi, and then the basic lack of any kind of evidence, any kind of forensic

⁵ On cross-examination, he questioned if he or Mr. Bolus had all the discovery materials obtained by PCR counsel. App. pp. 964-965.

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