RECEIVED

Jul 12 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO DORCHESTER COUNTY
Honorable Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001432

TYRONE D. ELLISON,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

BRYAN T. HALL
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 106039
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. A remand is unwarranted because the issues raised in Petitioner's PCR were ruled on by the PCR court in its Order of Dismissal, thereby preserving the issues for appellate review, and the PCR court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's Rule 59 motion upon finding no appropriate grounds to alter or amend its judgment.**

Petitioner alleges this case should be remanded to the PCR court so the court can address matters raised in the Rule 59 motion. However, the PCR court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's Rule 59 motion where it had previously ruled on the issues raised by Petitioner in an Order of Dismissal and did not find appropriate grounds to alter or amend its judgment. As a result, the issues raised by Petitioner were properly preserved for appellate review, and a remand is unnecessary. To preserve issues for appellate review, the issue must have been (1) raised and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) in a timely manner, and (4) raised with sufficient specificity. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004).

In a PCR, the court shall make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law relating to each issue in an order, which is a final judgment. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 (2014). If a PCR order fails to set forth the findings of fact and reasons for those findings, counsel must file a motion to alter or amend the order under Rule 59. *Pruitt v. State*, 310 S.C. 254, 423 S.E.2d 127 (1992) (finding a PCR judge's order which failed to address issues raised in the applicant's application and the evidentiary hearing was insufficient and should be remanded); *Fishburne v. State*, 427 S.C. 505, 832 S.E.2d 584 (2019) (ruling a PCR judge erred by making general denial of all claims and not specifically addressing the issues in its order and should be remanded). Grant or denial of a Rule 59 motion rests within the discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal unless it is unwholly unsupported by the evidence, or the conclusions reached are in error of law. *Brinkley v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, 386 S.C. 182, 185, 687 S.E.2d 54, 56 (Ct. App.

2009); *see also* Rule 59(a), SCRCF (stating a court “may” open the judgment to amend its finding of fact or conclusions of law, make new findings and conclusions, or enter a new judgment).

Here, the PCR court issued a final Order of Dismissal, in which the court specifically addressed all of the issues raised by Petitioner in his PCR, unlike the judge’s orders in *Pruitt* and *Fishburne*. (App. 1036-68). PCR counsel filed a Rule 59(e) motion, asking the court to alter or amend its judgment. (App. 1105-12). The PCR court held a hearing on the motion and, ultimately, denied the motion upon finding there were no appropriate grounds to alter or amend the judgment rendered in the Order of Dismissal. (App. 1141-69; 1171). Accordingly, it was within the PCR court’s discretion to deny the Rule 59 motion without re-addressing, amending, or making new findings of fact or conclusions of law. Thus, the PCR court’s Order of Dismissal constitutes the final judgment and ruling on all issues raised by Petitioner in his PCR, and those issues are properly preserved for appellate review rendering a remand unnecessary.

II. The PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to prove prejudice by showing that but for Counsel’s conduct, there is a reasonable probability he would have accepted a plea offer if presented, instead of proceeding to trial, where Counsel credibly testified that Petitioner wanted a trial and was not interested in a guilty plea.

Petitioner alleges that but for Counsel’s conduct, there is a reasonable probability Petitioner would have accepted a plea offer, if presented. However, the PCR court correctly found Petitioner would not have accepted a plea offer because Petitioner wanted a trial and was not interested in pleading. In *Lafler v. Cooper*, the Supreme Court held a criminal defendant was prejudiced by his attorney’s advice where the defendant expressed a willingness to accept a favorable plea offer but rejected the offer and proceeded to trial based on his attorney’s advice. *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156 (2012). The defendant received a favorable offer from the prosecution. *Id.* at 160. In a communication with the court, the defendant admitted guilt and expressed a willingness to accept

the plea offer. *Id.* at 161. However, the defendant rejected the plea offer and proceeded to trial based on his attorney's advice that an element of the offense could not be proven. *Id.* The defendant was convicted at trial and received a harsher sentence than that offered in the plea bargain. *Id.* at 160-61. The Court held the defendant was prejudiced by his attorney's conduct because he relied on his attorney's advice in rejecting a plea offer he would have accepted otherwise. *Id.* at 164.

Petitioner cites *Lafler*. However, Petitioner's case is distinguished from *Lafler*. Here, Counsel testified that Petitioner wanted a trial and, after firing his previous lawyer, did not seek new counsel to negotiate a plea agreement. (App. 947). Counsel testified that it was his understanding that Petitioner fired the previous lawyer because Petitioner wanted to go to trial. (App. 961). Counsel testified that Petitioner hired Counsel for the purpose of preparing the case for trial. (App. 947). Based on Counsel's testimony, the record reflects Petitioner insisted on going to trial and was uninterested in a guilty plea, unlike the defendant in *Lafler*. The PCR court found *credible* Counsel's testimony that Petitioner was not interested in plea negotiations or a guilty plea and wanted to go to trial. (App. 1057). Thus, the PCR Court correctly found that Petitioner failed to prove that but for Counsel's conduct, he would have accepted a plea offer instead of proceeding to trial.

III. The PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to prove he was prejudiced by Counsel's trial preparation and advice by showing a reasonable probability the result of trial would have been different where Petitioner gave informed consent to Counsel's limited preparation time and the risks thereof, and Counsel testified that he was properly prepared for trial despite the limited preparation.

Petitioner alleges Counsel failed to adequately prepare for trial and properly advise Petitioner on the strengths and weaknesses of his case. However, the PCR court correctly found that Counsel's preparation was reasonable under prevailing professional norms and thus, was not

deficient. Further, Petitioner failed to prove he was prejudiced by Counsel's preparation and advice.

In order to prevail upon a claim that counsel did not adequately prepare or investigate a case, an applicant must present evidence of what counsel could have discovered or what other defenses applicant could have requested counsel develop if counsel had more fully prepared. *Jackson v. State*, 329 S.C. 345, 353-54, 495 S.E.2d 768, 772 (1998). The applicant must prove prejudice by presenting evidence that demonstrates how additional preparation, and the discoverable matters or defenses, would have resulted in a different outcome. *Harris v. State*, 377 S.C. 66, 73-76, 659 S.E.2d 140, 144-46 (2008), *abrogated on other grounds by Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018).

In *Harris*, the Supreme Court determined an applicant failed to prove he was prejudiced by his attorney's preparation where the attorney testified that he reviewed discovery materials, developed a defense strategy, and was prepared for trial. *Id.* The applicant's first trial resulted in a mistrial, and the applicant was represented by the same attorney in his second trial which resulted in a conviction. *Id.* at 71-72, 659 S.E.2d 143-44. The applicant alleged counsel was not prepared for the second trial. *Id.* The applicant's attorney testified that in preparing for the second trial, he received and reviewed discovery materials and met with the solicitor to engage in plea negotiations. *Id.* at 74-75, 659 S.E.2d 144-45. The attorney testified that he did not meet with the applicant in between the first and second trials but he mastered a defense and was prepared for the second trial. *Id.* The applicant did not offer any evidence as to how the attorney's preparation or lack thereof prejudiced him. *Id.* at 75, 659 S.E.2d at 145. The Court held the applicant's allegation that counsel's preparation was inadequate was merely speculative, and applicant failed to prove he was prejudiced by counsel's preparation. *Id.* at 75-76, 659 S.E.2d 145-46.

Here, the Petitioner was fully aware of the time constraints Counsel was under in preparing for trial and the risks thereof. Counsel testified that, when approached by Petitioner and his mother, Counsel informed Petitioner that the case was a date certain that was unlikely to be continued and had to be prepared for in five (5) weeks. (App. 962). Counsel testified that he explained to Petitioner the pitfalls of trying to prepare a case for trial in five (5) weeks. (App. 962; 943-44). Aware of the short and limited time Counsel had to prepare for trial, Petitioner and his mother retained Counsel to prepare the case for trial. (App. 947).

Counsel testified that although he had shorter preparation time, Counsel was properly prepared for trial. (App. 951-52). Counsel testified that although it was not his normal practice to prepare a case with such short time, Counsel spent eighty percent (80%) of the five (5) week span preparing. (App. 965-66). Counsel testified that in preparation, he reviewed the file from Petitioner's previous attorney and had a conversation with the previous attorney. (App. 944; 946; 964). Counsel also testified that he reviewed Rule 5 materials and met with the solicitor. (App. 963-64). Counsel testified he reviewed discovery materials with Petitioner, who was familiar with the case. (App. 963-64). Counsel testified he advised Petitioner that his strongest argument was to dispute the identity of the robber, although the State could prove identity through witnesses and DNA evidence. (App. 967). Counsel further testified that based on his preparation, he developed a trial strategy that was based on creating doubt in the jury by presenting an alibi defense, arguing lack of evidence and lack of forensic evidence, and arguing lack of a financial incentive to commit the robbery. (App. 963; 968-69). Counsel testified that he discussed this strategy with Petitioner. (App. 946).

The record reflects Counsel's preparation and advice were reasonable under prevailing professional norms and thus, was not deficient. Further, Petitioner's allegation that Counsel was

not adequately prepared and did not adequately advise him on the strengths and weaknesses of the case is merely speculative as Petitioner failed to present evidence to show that the result of trial would have been different if Counsel had more fully prepared. Thus, the PCR court correctly denied relief.

IV. The PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to prove prejudice by showing a reasonable probability the result of trial would have been different but for Counsel's trial strategy where Counsel articulated reasonable strategic decisions in attempting to cast doubt in the jury by (1) arguing a lack of financial incentive for Petitioner to commit the robbery; (2) calling Petitioner's mother to testify regarding the sale of Petitioner's car used in the robbery; (3) calling an expert witness to testify to the State's DNA evidence; and (4) calling alibi witnesses.

Petitioner alleges Counsel was ineffective for (1) arguing a lack of financial incentive, where this defense strategy had been discussed on recorded phone calls; (2) calling Petitioner's mother as a witness with knowledge that she was subject to cross-examination regarding statements she made in phone calls and an interview with law enforcement; (3) calling an expert witness to testify to the State's DNA evidence; and (4) calling alibi witnesses whose testimonies could be impeached. However, the PCR court correctly found Counsel did not take an approach that no competent lawyer would have taken because Counsel articulated reasonable strategic decisions for calling the witnesses and making the arguments, and Petitioner failed to prove prejudice by showing a reasonable probability the result of trial would have been different but for Counsel's performance.

Strickland requires that trial counsel be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89 (stating "[n]o particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant"). Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. *Id.* at 689. A fair assessment of

counsel's performance requires the court to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, reconstructing the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and instead, evaluate the conduct from *counsel's perspective* at the time of trial. *Id.* at 689 (emphasis added).

At the PCR hearing, Counsel testified that he believed there was room for doubt in Petitioner's trial. (App. 947). Counsel testified that Petitioner wanted a trial, and Counsel's trial strategy was to cast doubt in the jury's mind regarding the State's identification and evidence. (App. 963; 968-69).

- A. The PCR court correctly found Counsel's decision to argue Petitioner lacked financial incentive to commit the robbery, although was discussed in recorded phone calls between Petitioner's mother and an inmate, was reasonable under prevailing professional norms because Counsel articulated a reasonable strategic decision in making the financial incentive argument to cast doubt in the jury's mind about Petitioner's motive, and Petitioner failed to prove the result of trial would have been different if Counsel did not make this argument.**

The PCR court correctly found Counsel's conduct was reasonable under prevailing professional norms where Counsel articulated a reasonable strategy in arguing Petitioner's lack of financial incentive. Counsel testified he reviewed Rule 5 materials provided by the State, which included recorded jail calls between Petitioner's mother, Annette McKinney, and an inmate, Shawn Keitt. (App. 944; Appl.'s Ex. 4). Counsel testified that, due to time constraints in his preparation, he did not review all of the recorded tapes provided. (App. 944). In the calls, Petitioner's mother discussed Petitioner's financial situation with the inmate, stating she told Petitioner's lawyer that Petitioner had money and the inmate did not have the money. (App. 967). At trial, Counsel elicited testimony from Petitioner's mother about Petitioner's finances, and the solicitor cross-examined Petitioner's mother regarding statements she made to the inmate. (App. 377-383; 390-94). Counsel admitted the phone call was not helpful to the case and testified that if he had listened to the recordings, he would not have argued Petitioner lacked a financial incentive

to commit the robbery. (App. 945; 967). Counsel testified that he elicited the testimony to cast doubt in the jury's mind about Petitioner's financial incentive, i.e. motive, but did not think Petitioner's mother would tell Counsel one thing and tell Petitioner, and another inmate, something else. (App. 968-69; 944). Counsel further testified that, looking back, although he still would have called Petitioner's mother as a witness, he would not have elicited testimony about Petitioner's financial incentive. (App. 946). The PCR court found *credible* Counsel's testimony that even if he had listened to the jail phone calls, Counsel still would have called Petitioner's mother as a witness because her testimony was necessary to establish facts on the sale of Applicant's car. (App. 944-45; 1056).

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